IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JEFFREY WALKER,
Petitioner,

v.

**SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA, IN AND FOR THE
COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO,**
Respondent,

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,**
Real Party in Interest.

No. S263588

Court of Appeal
No. A159563

(San Francisco
County Superior
Court Nos. 2219428
(195989))

**PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF
ON THE MERITS**

ERWIN F. FREDRICH
State Bar #53551
P.O. BOX 471313
San Francisco, CA 94147
(415) 563-8870

Email: efredrich@juno.com

Attorney for Petitioner Jeffrey Walker

I. INTRODUCTION

On July 31, 2020 Petitioner, Jeffrey Walker, represented by attorney Erwin F. Fredrich, filed a Petition for Review of a decision – *Walker v. Superior Court of San Francisco (2020)*, (A159563) [hereafter *Walker*] -certified for publication (51 Cal. App. 5th 682), issued on June 30, 2020 by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four--denying Petitioner’s request for a Petition for a Writ of Mandate for a violation of his rights at a probable cause hearing in a Sexually Violent Predator (SVP) case.

This court granted review on September 9, 2020. This court's web site's "Case Summary" indicates:

This case presents the following issue: Did the superior court violate the rule of *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665 - that an expert cannot relate case-specific hearsay unless the facts are independently proved or covered by a hearsay exception - by relying on case-specific hearsay contained in psychological evaluations in finding probable cause to commit petitioner under the Sexually Violent Predator Act?

On September 11, 2020 this court expanded issues to be briefed and argued:

The issues to be briefed and argued in the above-captioned matter are expanded to include: Do defendants in Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA) proceedings have a due process right to confront and cross-examine witnesses presenting contested hearsay evidence?

A Petition for Rehearing in *Walker* was filed in the Court of Appeal on July 13, 2020 that directed the appellate court's attention to various facts and legal issues omitted in the appellate court's opinion. The Rehearing Petition, *inter alia*, addressed the omission in the *Walker* opinion of any of the specific facts at the probable cause hearing that detailed the unreliability of the case-specific hearsay allegations in expert reports and testimony introduced over objection and later motion to strike and the failure of the decision to address the issue of due process. (California Rules of Court 8.500(c) (2)). The Petition for Rehearing was summarily denied by the Court of Appeal in an Order filed on July 16, 2020.

The omitted facts and issues in the Petition for Rehearing were addressed in Petitioner's Petition for Review filed in this Court on July 31, 2020.

The omitted facts and issues in the Petition for Rehearing are also addressed in this pleading.

The appellate court's *Walker* decision ruled that *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal. 4th 665 (*Sanchez*) restrictions on expert testimony are inapplicable in sexually violent predator (SVP) probable cause hearings. The decision opines that two cases that applied *Sanchez* to SVP probable cause hearings cases were incorrectly decided. (*Bennett v. Superior Court* (9/11/2019) B292368; Second Appellate District, Division 2; 39 Cal. App. 5th 862 (*Bennett*) [Review Denied, California Supreme Court S258639] ¹ and *People v. Superior Court (Couthren)* (11/7/2019) A155969; First Appellate District, Division 1; 41 Cal. App. 5th 1001 (*Couthren*))²

The *Bennett* case was on this court's calendar for several months in late 2019 pending decision of the government's Petition for Review in that case. This court denied review of *Bennett* on January 2, 2020. This court also did not order *Bennett* depublished. (California Rules of Court 8.1125)

There is now a direct conflict between the *Sanchez*, *Bennett* and *Couthren* decisions and the court of appeal in the *Walker* case. *Bennett* and *Couthren* specifically do not allow an expert to use and publish case-specific evidence from non-qualifying offenses at SVP probable cause hearings. The *Walker* court rejects *Bennett* and *Couthren* and rules that anything and everything included in an expert's report is admissible at the probable cause hearing and the probable cause Judge is "required" to

¹ The *Walker* appellate court decision did refer to and took judicial notice of the Petition for Review in *Bennett* that was filed by the government and the denial of review by the California Supreme Court on January 2, 2020 - S258639. However the *Walker* court disagreed with and rejected the *Bennett* court of appeal decision, the applicability of the California Supreme Court's denial of review and Petitioner's argument. (Slip Opinion page 24, Footnote 4.)

² No Rehearing or Petition for Review was sought by the government in *Couthren*.

review everything in the report and then can use anything in the report(s) as a basis for the Judge's ruling on probable cause.

Petitioner Walker's position is that the *Walker* decision is not supported by legislative history or case law, the *Walker* decision denies Walker due process, *Sanchez* applies at SVP probable cause hearings, the *Bennett* and *Couthren* cases were correctly decided and that Walker deserves the same relief as granted in *Bennett* and *Couthren* – dismissal of the SVP Petition.

Because the First Appellate District, Division Four, in its opinion in *Walker*, did not discuss in detail facts from Petitioner's probable cause hearing, this pleading summarizes pertinent facts from the hearing and provides details of legal issues not discussed in the *Walker* opinion but noted in Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing. The legal issues in the Petition for Rehearing included due process concerns that this court has asked the parties to address in its expanded order of September 11, 2020. The *Walker* court did not address due process in its opinion (other than one brief mention when discussing use of hearsay in other contexts different than SVP probable cause hearings - Slip Opinion p 20). As indicated above, the *Walker* court subsequently summarily denied the Petition for Rehearing. (California Rules of Court 8.500(c) (2))

The *Walker* decision's rejection of *Sanchez*, *Bennett* and *Couthren* is not consistent with due process and related constitutional protections. The *Walker* decision is not supported by the authorities cited within the opinion and does not adequately state or consider the facts and evidence at Petitioner Walker's probable cause hearing.

II. SUMMARY OF OPINION

The *Walker* decision creates a new hearsay exception in Welf. & Inst.

Code section³ 6602(a). The decision indicates that 6602 directs the judge to “review the petition”.⁴

Although the decision admits that the SVP Act does not address what the petition must include (Slip Opinion page 14), the decision then “understand[s]” (Slip Opinion page 16) that the petition includes the expert reports. Therefore this creates a hearsay exception that makes *Sanchez* inapplicable to SVP probable cause hearings and that then anything in the expert reports is admissible. (Slip Opinion page 13)

The *Walker* decision invokes a claimed “Parker/Cooley Rule”⁵ (Slip Opinion at pages 10,11 & 22) for support of the decision’s rejection of *Sanchez*, *Bennett* and *Couthren*. The *Walker* decision, however, admits that both *Parker* and *Cooley* indicated that 6602 did not specify procedural requirements for probable cause hearings. (Slip Opinion pages 8,10)

The *Sanchez*, *Bennett* and *Couthren* cases prohibited experts from publishing allegations of “case-specific” facts from non-qualifying alleged offenses at SVP probable cause hearings.

The *Walker* decision also speculates about what the legislature intended in 6602. The *Walker* decision’s conjecture and speculation concerning legislative intent is unsupported by anything in legislative history.

³ Statutory references are to the Welfare . & Institutions Code unless otherwise indicated.

⁴ See Amicus Brief application to file and brief filed herein September 25, 2020 by Darren Bean (permission for filing brief granted by this court on September 30, 2020) for a discussion of the difference between “review” and “admit” or “receive”.

⁵ *In re Parker* (1998) 60 Cal.App.4th 1453 and *Cooley v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal. 4th 228. The phrase is used several times in the *Walker* opinion (Slip opinion pages 10, 11, 22) but a Google Scholar search of California cases for the phrase indicates only one case has used the phrase – the *Walker* court of appeal opinion.

III. PROBABLE CAUSE HEARING RECORD

Although the *Walker* decision does not include any details of the exhibits (mainly expert reports) or testimony from the probable cause hearing, the *Walker* court, in connection with issuing its Order to Show Cause on March 6, 2020, ordered Petitioner to lodge with the court copies of transcripts and expert reports from the probable cause hearing. Petitioner lodged the documents with the appellate court on March 12, 2020.⁶ A summary of pertinent details from the probable cause hearing testimony and evidence indicated that:

Walker, at the start of the probable cause hearing in February 2016, objected to evidence of details of allegations of non-qualifying offenses introduced through the government experts' reports and testimony. The hearing was spread over 5 evidentiary sessions ending in March 2016. The objection was based on hearsay, due process, 6600(a)(3), *People v. Otto* (2001) 26 Cal. 4th 200 and that the evidence was unreliable. The objection was denied. Walker renewed this objection and moved to strike this information after the defense case established that the information based on non-qualifying offense allegations used by the experts was unreliable - the initial allegations were lies and/or not true. That renewed objection and motion to strike were also denied.

Government experts MacSpeiden and Karlsson⁷ relied on case-

⁶ The transcripts and reports were BATES numbered OSC0001 thru OSC0591. Pertinent details were summarized in Petitioner's Reply Brief filed March 24, 2020 (at pages 24-26) and Petition for Rehearing filed on July 13, 2020 (at pages 8-11) in the court of appeal and included references to OSC BATES numbering. A few additional BATES references are included in this brief.

⁷ MacSpeiden and Karlsson were appointed after Yanofsky, one of the initial two state appointed evaluators, found Walker to not qualify for SVP status. The split findings of the two state experts initially appointed resulted in the appointments of MacSpeiden and Karlsson. See 6601(e). Walker

specific hearsay regarding non qualifying alleged offenses in their reports and testimony at the probable cause hearing from a San Francisco criminal case (complaining witness “J”) and a San Jose (Santa Clara County) criminal case (complaining witness “T”).

A jury found Walker “not guilty” of the allegations of Walker committing any sexually violent offenses (including rape) in the San Francisco criminal case involving J. Walker was only convicted of pandering in that case (a non-qualifying offense that does not require any sexual contact or sexual interaction with the defendant). The complaining witness J in that case told her boyfriend (after the criminal trial) that she had lied about being raped by Walker.

A Judge in connection with a court trial, dismissed a charge of rape in a San Jose case because the complaining witness (T) admitted to Walker’s public defender’s investigator before trial that, contrary to her initial complaint of forcible rape, there actually had not been any force and that she did not verbally or physically resist the sexual activity that occurred. The investigative report, redacted for privacy reasons, was introduced into evidence at Walker’s SVP probable cause hearing on March 18, 2016. (Exhibit J; OSC0404, 0442,& 0478) Walker was only convicted by the Judge of unlawful sexual intercourse (a non-qualifying offense) because the complaining witness was under 18 at the time of the initial allegations (T was 17). The same Judge however found Walker guilty of a qualifying offense involving a different complaining witness -- “M”.

Expert MacSpeiden used the unreliable initial forcible sex allegations from both the San Jose T and San Francisco J cases (combined with the information from the qualifying offense M) to establish a modus

called Yanofsky as a defense witness at the probable cause hearing.

operandi “MO” of Petitioner and also indicated that this was a central/essential part of his opinion. MacSpeiden, who classified the San Francisco complainant J as a “pathological liar”, could not with any great deal of certainty say whether she lied about being raped or lied about not being raped, but speculated and still accepted and used the rape allegation by J as a basis of his opinion. He specifically admitted he was speculating. This was despite MacSpeiden’s report that indicated that the jury in the San Francisco criminal case stated its reason for finding Walker only guilty of pandering. The jury felt that the complaining witness J in the San Francisco case was lying about forcible sex offense charges and thus found Walker not guilty of those charges but did find him guilty of pandering. (OSC0197)

Expert Karlsson was unaware of the not guilty verdict in the San Francisco case and indicated that the not guilty verdict might change his opinion but he would have to return to the quiet of his office to consider whether his opinion would change. The probable cause hearing Judge later denied a motion to recall Karlsson to determine whether he had changed his opinion after getting back to his office.

Both MacSpeiden and Karlsson used the original allegations of T for support that Walker qualified for SVP status, ignoring T’s contrary subsequent statements to Walker’s investigator.

There was simply no basis other than speculation for the experts to assume that Walker had committed a qualifying sex offense in either the San Francisco (J) or San Jose (T) cases and use it as a basis for an expert opinion.

The probable cause hearing Judge then used the speculation in finding probable cause – “based on the evidence presented”. (page 1 of Exhibit A, written 2 page decision of probable cause hearing Judge, attached to Writ of Mandate Petition filed in the *Walker* Court of Appeal

on February 14, 2020.)

Petitioner also had subpoenaed T to the probable cause hearing and she did not appear. A proof of service was filed and Petitioner asked for a body attachment that was denied by the probable cause Judge. OSC0482⁸

IV. THE *WALKER* DECISION’S USE OF 6602 AND A “PARKER/COOLEY RULE” TO CREATE A NEW HEARSAY EXCEPTION

The *Walker* decision uses 6602 to create a new hearsay rule by speculating what the legislature was thinking when it was passed in 1995.

6601.5 indicates that the Judge should review the “petition on its face” and requires the probable cause hearing to be within 10 days of that review. The *Walker* decision then takes speculative steps and elaborate leaps in logic to find that the review of the petition in 6602 includes the state expert evaluations (even if they were not attached to the Petition) and thus there is a hearsay exception for anything and everything in the evaluator’s reports or testimony at a SVP probable cause hearing. The decision concludes the SVP probable cause hearing has different evidentiary rules than at trial.

The opinion indicates that a “Parker/Cooley Rule”⁹ is settled law. (citing 3 cases – only 1 of which was decided after *Cooley* -- Slip Opinion pp 10-11). All five cases were decided long before *Sanchez*. *Cooley* only mentions *Parker*, in dicta, in a footnote (as the *Walker*

⁸ This was contrary to Evidence Code section 804(a) that permits an adverse party to call as an adverse witness another person when an expert testifies that the expert’s opinion is based “in whole or part” on a statement of the person.

⁹ As noted in footnote 5, *infra*, a Google Scholar search of California cases for the phrase indicates only one case has used the phrase “Parker/Cooley Rule” – this case -- the *Walker* court of appeal opinion.

opinion acknowledges at pages 10, 13 and 21). *Parker* was decided in 1998 and *Cooley* in 2002.

The *Cooley* court however disagreed with the *Walker* opinion, with *Cooley* finding that the scope of a SVP probable cause hearing and the trial should not be any different:

“...we do not believe that the difference in language used in section 6602, subdivision (a) and section 6604 signifies an intention by the Legislature that the scope of the probable cause hearing should be more limited than the scope of the trial.”
Cooley, supra, at p 247

The *Cooley* court also sent the case back for a new probable cause hearing.

The *Walker* decision also does not explain how the *Parker* and *Cooley* decisions (some 18 and 14 years prior) somehow became a “Rule” that overrules the *Sanchez* decision of 2016. *Sanchez* was a decision that interpreted what evidence an expert (Evidence Code §§ 801 and 802) could publish to the fact finder and *Sanchez* applies to all cases – as Evidence Code section 300 directs.

The *Walker* decision several times speculates what the legislature was thinking when considering 6602. The *Walker* decision indicates that even if 6602 may be ambiguous, when the statute mentions for the judge to review the petition, it also includes review of the expert reports. (Slip Opinion p 16) The *Walker* opinion cites no legislative history to support its speculation and turns to an analysis of the SVP Act’s “structure and purpose” (Slip Opinion p 16).

Speculative aspects of the *Walker* opinion include:

” We find it highly unlikely the Legislature intended” (Slip Opinion p 19); “The Legislature clearly intended for evaluators to rely on hearsay sources in their evaluations” (Slip Opinion p 16) and “the Legislature must have intended the trial judge to review this hearsay in reviewing

the reports.” (Slip Opinion p 17)

Whatever the legislature intended or was thinking about 6602 in 1995 would not have been with input from the *Sanchez* decision decided in 2016. 6601.5 and 6602 are statutes that are to ensure that the potential SVP candidate is not released from prison custody to parole (before a probable cause hearing ruling) even if parole and other deadlines are or will be exceeded. (see *Stats. 2000, Ch. 41, (S.B. 451) Sec. 2. Effective June 26, 2000.*) The legislature has never passed legislation regarding evidentiary rules for 6602 for conducting probable cause hearings.

The legislature did not pass any legislation to change the *Sanchez* holding or pass any legislation since *Sanchez* to amend sections 801 - 802 of the Evidence Code to allow experts to use improper case-specific hearsay in any case.

The legislature, however, did clearly delineate in 6600(a)(3) in 1996 what hearsay evidence could be introduced in a SVP case. 6600(a)(3) was passed by the legislature in 1996 because prosecutors had complained about having to bring victims back to court where there were convictions [but only those of qualified offenses] under the original legislation of 1995. (Stats 1996, ch 462, § 4) (*Otto*, supra, at p. 208). It would be incongruous for the Legislature to have already enacted a hearsay exception under section 6602, one which allows the use of multiple-level hearsay in an expert evaluation for *any* purpose, if such an exception already existed by virtue of the statutory indication to “review the petition” in 6602. There would have been no need to pass section 6600 (a)(3) in 1996. The *Walker* decision cites with approval the 2001 case of *Otto*, supra, at p 208 as indicating that 6600(a)(3) [passed in 1996]

“applies at SVP probable cause hearings but also extends to SVP trials.”
(Slip Opinion p 23)

The legislature is aware it can limit the applicability of the rules of evidence and can adopt special rules of evidence to govern commitment proceedings – and it has done so in SVP cases [6600(a)(3)] and LPS hearing proceedings [which are not bound by rules of procedure or evidence -5256.4(b)] (See e.g. *People v. Stevens* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 325,338 and *In re Kirk*, (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1072-73)

Certainly if the legislature had wanted to create completely different evidentiary standards for SVP probable cause hearings under 6602 it would have done so.¹⁰

A. AB 1983

The legislature (after *Bennett and Couthren* became final in early January 2020) introduced a bill proposal that would add a hearsay exception to 6602 for SVP probable cause hearings. Assembly Bill 1983 would add language to section 6602 allowing prior sexual offense convictions (those that are now considered non qualifying offenses) to be proven by hearsay evidence at the probable cause hearing. (2019-2020, Reg. Sess., as amended Mar. 11, 2020; filed January 23, 2020.) Under the *Walker* decision’s view of the law, there would be no need for the legislature to add this hearsay exception because a broad hearsay

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