In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JEFFREY WALKER,

Petitioner,

Case No. S263588

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A159563
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case Nos. 2219428, 195989
The Honorable Charles Crompton, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS
Chief Assistant Attorney General
JEFFREY M. LAURENCE
Senior Assistant Attorney General
SETH K. SCHALIT
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
RENE A. CHACON
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
MOONA NANDI
Deputy Attorney General

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

ARGUMENT

This Court has never addressed what procedures apply at an SVP probable cause hearing, except in dicta, and the SVPA provides no specific procedural requirements. In 1998, when the statute was in its infancy, Division One of the Fourth District Court of Appeal set forth its interpretation of section 6602's requirement for a probable cause determination in *In re Parker, supra*, 60 Cal.App.4th 1453. It held that the prosecutor could present the hearsay reports of the evaluators, but that the prospective SVP had the right to call the evaluators for cross-examination and to call his or her own witnesses. (*Id.* at pp. 1469-1470.) This Court denied review of the decision, and the *Parker* procedure has been used since.

Parker's analysis, however, is incorrect. A probable cause hearing under section 6602 consists of judicial review of the SVP petition and, by implication, the underlying evaluations. The statute does not authorize, and the state and federal Constitutions do not require, a hearing with oral testimony. At the hearing, the court may consider the evaluations and hearsay within them in determining probable cause because section 6602 contains an implied multiple-level hearsay exception authorizing their admission. The statute's provision of counsel for the prospective SVP at the hearing also suggests the court may entertain argument addressing the existence of probable cause and consider documentary evidence, subject to the rules of evidence.

For these reasons, the Court of Appeal did not err in upholding the superior court’s probable cause determination based on the expert evaluations accompanying the petition, including case-specific hearsay within them. Walker, for his part, received more process than he was due when the superior court allowed him to call the evaluators and other witnesses to testify at the probable cause hearing.

I. NEITHER THE STATE OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS NOR SECTION 6602 PROVIDES A RIGHT TO CALL OR CONFRONT WITNESSES

Parker concluded, and Walker appears to agree, that a prospective SVP has a right under the due process clause and section 6602 to call witnesses and confront the evaluators. That is incorrect. Section 6602 does not contemplate a hearing with oral testimony, and due process does not compel such a hearing.

A. Section 6602 Does Not Provide for a Hearing With Oral Testimony

A court conducting a section 6602 probable cause hearing may consider the SVP petition, the statutorily required expert evaluations upon which the petition is based, any admissible documentary evidence, and argument by the parties. The statute does not provide for a hearing with oral testimony.

“It is well settled that the proper goal of statutory construction ‘is to ascertain and effectuate legislative intent, giving the words of the statute their usual and ordinary meaning. When the statutory language is clear, [the court] need go no further. If, however, the language supports more than one reasonable interpretation, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids,

including the objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, legislative history, the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part, contemporaneous administrative construction, and questions of public policy. [Citations.]” (*In re Lucas* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 839, 849, internal quotation marks omitted.)

The statutory language in this case instructs the court to “review the petition” and “determine whether there is probable cause.” (§ 6602, subd. (a).) A threshold issue is what constitutes the petition. Specifically, does the petition include the evaluations prerequisite to the filing of the petition? The statute does not expressly require the evaluations to be attached to the petition. However, this Court held in *People v. Superior Court (Ghilotti)*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th 888, 913, that the evaluators’ reports should be attached to the petition so that the prospective SVP can, if appropriate, challenge the petition on the ground that the supporting evaluations are “infected by legal error.” (See also *Cooley v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 255 [determination at probable cause hearing is based on the petition “which is, in turn, necessarily based on the two concurring psychological evaluations required by section 6601”]; *In re Parker*, *supra*, 60 Cal.App.4th at p. 1469, fn. 15 [Legislature impliedly intended evaluations to be attached to the petition or incorporated by reference]; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 4014.1, subd. (b) [suggesting DSH may provide evaluations directly to the court].) Attaching the evaluations to the petition (or submitting them in conjunction) also makes sense. The Legislature plainly did not intend the court to find probable cause based solely on

allegations made by the district attorney without examination of the evaluations that are necessarily the sole source of some of the allegations. The Legislature provided detailed directions on the process of evaluation, knowing that the evaluations would be the basis for many of the allegations. And the Legislature knew how to provide for a facial review without determining the truth of the allegations, as it did in section 6601.5. It went beyond such facial review in section 6602, providing the court “shall review the petition *and* shall determine probable cause.” (Italics added.) Section 6602’s reference to the “petition,” therefore, implicitly includes the evaluations.⁹

The matter does not end there, however. As the *Parker* court observed, section 6602 not only requires review of the petition, but also grants the prospective SVP the right to “assistance of counsel at the probable cause hearing.” (*Parker, supra*, 60 Cal.App.4th at p. 1464.) As introduced, both legislative versions of section 6602 provided only for review of the petition. (Assem. Bill No. 888 (1995-1996 Reg. Sess.) § 3 as introduced Feb. 22, 1995; Sen. Bill No. 1143 (1995-1996 Reg. Sess.) § 3 as

⁹ Though amicus asserts otherwise, there is nothing inconsistent about construing “petition” in section 6602 to include the prerequisite evaluations but not other documents that could be attached to the petition. (ACB 16.) The SVPA requires evaluations to be prepared pursuant to a standardized assessment protocol and forbids an SVP petition from being filed without the agreement of the initial two evaluators or the two independent evaluators. (§ 6601, subs. (d), (f).) No other documents the district attorney might choose to attach to the SVP petition hold this unique status.

introduced Feb. 24, 1995.) The provision for assistance of counsel was added later to both bills with no explanation. (Assem. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 888 (1995-1996 Reg. Sess.) § 3, April 25, 1995; Assem. Amend. to Sen. Bill No. 1143 (1995-1996 Reg. Sess.) § 3, July 13, 1995.)¹⁰ Its inclusion shows that the Legislature intended more than an ex parte judicial review of the petition and evaluations. But neither the language of section 6602 nor its legislative history indicates the Legislature intended a hearing with witnesses appearing in person. The word “hearing” does not, by its own force, require oral testimony. (See, e.g., Cal. Rules of Court, rule 3.1306(a) [“evidence received at a law and motion hearing must be by declaration of request for judicial notice without testimony or cross-examination, unless the court orders otherwise for good cause shown]; *People v. Superior Court (Zamudio)* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, 201 [court does not necessarily abuse its discretion, in a motion proceeding, by resolving evidentiary conflicts without hearing live testimony].) Moreover, requiring a hearing with witnesses appearing in person would render the need to “review the petition” superfluous as the court would be receiving the same information through the evaluators’ testimony. (*In re C.H.* (2011) 53 Cal.4th 94, 103 [“It is a settled principle of statutory construction, that courts should ‘strive to give meaning to every word in a statute to avoid

¹⁰ The Legislature amended the bills to provide counsel for a committed SVP petitioning for conditional release or unconditional discharge at the same time it provided counsel for the probable cause hearing, again with no explanation.

constructions that render words, phrases, or clauses superfluous”].)

The *Parker* court concluded the Legislature intended a potential SVP to be able to challenge the basis of the SVP petition in a manner similar to a criminal preliminary hearing. (*Parker, supra*, 60 Cal.App.4th at p. 1469.) The Penal Code, however, expressly provides for live testimony by witnesses at preliminary hearings and lays out a rich statutory framework regulating the details of witness testimony at such hearings. (Pen. Code, §§ 859b, 861.5, 865-870; cf. *People v. Johnson* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 717 [prosecution may not present its case at a suppression hearing by affidavit because language of Penal Code sections 1538.5 and 1539 clearly contemplates hearing with oral testimony].) Had the Legislature intended the same for an SVP probable cause determination it would have said so. (Cf. *Hurtado v. California* (1884) 110 U.S. 516, 535 [if purpose of Fourteenth Amendment was for grand jury procedure to be used in all states, it would contain express declaration like Fifth Amendment].)¹¹ By comparison, the Legislature did expressly grant potential SVP’s the right to a unanimous jury trial with the burden on the prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person qualifies for commitment, demonstrating that it knows how to incorporate criminal-like procedures when that is what it intends.

¹¹ *Parker* also analogized section 6602 to pretrial administrative proceedings under the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act (§ 5000 et seq.). (*Parker, supra*, 60 Cal.App.4th at p. 1468.) There, too, however, the Legislature expressly provided for a hearing with oral testimony. (§ 5256.4, subd. (a).)

(§§ 6603, subd. (g), 6604.) And it demonstrated that it knows how to incorporate a broad right to present evidence. (§ 6603, subd. (e) [“This section does not prevent the defense from presenting otherwise relevant and admissible evidence”].)

Parker also concluded a probable cause hearing with oral testimony was intended based on a comparison with section 6601.5. Under that section, if requested, the superior court determines whether the “petition, on its face, supports a finding of probable cause,” in which case the judge orders the person detained and sets a probable cause hearing under section 6602 within 10 days. *Parker* concluded that limiting the proceeding under section 6601.5 to a review of the petition “on its face,” that is to say, a “paper review,” demonstrated the Legislature did not intend the probable cause hearing under section 6602 to be a “paper review” as such a limitation would render the hearing under section 6602 superfluous. (*Parker, supra*, 60 Cal.App.4th at p. 1466.)

A section 6601.5 determination, however, is made in an ex parte proceeding. The prospective SVP has no right to an attorney, no right to present evidence of any kind, and no right to be present when the court makes its determination. The scope of the court’s review, moreover, is limited to determining whether the petition establishes probable cause “on its face”—that is, without any examination of the quality or credibility of the evaluations. The prosecution’s burden at this stage is a pleading burden, much like the initial burden of a petitioner seeking habeas corpus relief. (See *People v. Duvall* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 464,

474 [to satisfy initial burden of pleading adequate grounds for relief, petitioner must state fully and with particularity the facts on which relief is sought and include copies of reasonably available documentary evidence].) In an SVP case, the burden is met by submitting the petition and evaluations to the court. The court's duty, concomitantly, is, upon request, to ask "whether the petition states or contains sufficient facts that, if true, would constitute probable cause to believe" the person is an SVP. (§ 6601.5; cf. *Duvall, supra*, at pp. 474-475 [whether the allegations, if true, would entitle the person to relief].) This means checking to ensure the petition is supported by the necessary evaluations and that the evaluations conclude the person meets the criteria for SVP commitment.

At the probable cause hearing under section 6602, by contrast, the court goes beyond a facial review on the assumption that the facts asserted are true. It considers the merits of the evaluations and assesses the truth of their conclusions. The person has the right to counsel, who may argue probable cause is lacking because the evaluations are infected with legal error (*Ghilotti, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 913) or with factual error. With regard to the latter, the attorney may present documentary evidence, subject to the rules of evidence, to show the evaluators' conclusions were erroneous. In this case, for example, counsel would have been permitted to introduce court records showing Walker's cases against victims Tuesday and Julianna resulted in dismissal and acquittal. And counsel would have been able to argue that because of those dispositions, the cases should not

have been considered by the evaluators (cf. *Sargon Enterprises, Inc. v. University of Southern California* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 747, 771), that the evaluators' opinions lacked sufficient basis, and, therefore, that there was not probable cause to believe Walker qualified for SVP commitment.

In short, *Parker* was correct that the procedures for section 6601.5 and section 6602 are different. The difference is not that the former is a paper hearing and the latter a hearing with oral testimony, however. It is that the former is ex parte, permits consideration of no evidence beyond the petition (including the evaluations), and assumes the truth of the petition (including the evaluations), whereas the latter is adversarial, tests the truth of the petition (including the evaluations) for probable cause, and permits the prospective SVP to introduce proper documentary evidence.¹²

¹² The Legislature has, in other schemes, provided for judicial or administrative review of a petition or application to determine whether additional proceedings should be held. (E.g., Bus. & Prof. Code, § 3756, subs. (a)-(c) [after filing of “petition detailing the reasonable cause” to believe respiratory therapist unable to practice and filing of opposition, “the board shall review the petition and any written opposition . . . , or the board may hold a hearing . . . to determine if reasonable cause exists]; *id.*, § 2292 [similar for podiatrist]; Gov. Code, § 54960, subd. (c)(3) [“If the court, following a review of the motion” seeking disclosure of a recording of a closed session “finds that there is good cause to believe that a violation has occurred, the court may review, in camera, the recording of that portion of the closed session alleged to have violated the act”]; Welf. & Inst. Code, § 601.5 [if probation department files petition under § 601, subd. (a), as to minor who fails to comply with service plan, “the court shall review the

(continued...)

This Court has cited *Parker* with approval on four occasions. None of those cases required the Court to consider the correctness of *Parker*'s holding and, therefore, none is controlling. (*People v. Ault* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1250, 1268, fn. 10 ["It is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered"]; see also *People v. Lasko* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 101, 110 [rejecting statements in decisions reaching back to 1917 as dicta].)

This Court first considered the substantive requirements for a probable cause determination in *Cooley v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 29 Cal.4th 228. The parties in that case did not dispute *Parker*'s decision regarding the procedural requirements. (*Id.* at p. 245, fn. 8; see also OBM 13 [acknowledging *Cooley*'s mention of *Parker* was dictum.] *People v. Torres* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 680, 683 cited *Parker* for the principle that a prospective SVP has a right to confront and call witnesses at the probable cause hearing, but the issue *Torres* considered—whether at trial the trier of fact must find the person's predicate offenses were predatory in nature—had nothing to do with *Parker*. Similarly, *People v. Hurtado*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th 1179, 1186, noted that *Parker* analogized an SVP probable cause hearing to a criminal preliminary hearing, but considered an issue unrelated to section 6602 procedure—whether the trier of fact must find the

(...continued)

petition and any other facts which the court deems appropriate in relation to" failure and may defer hearing on petition for renewed compliance efforts].)

prospective SVP is likely to commit sexually violent criminal acts that are predatory in nature.

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